

BY-LAWS
OF
TOWN OF ROTTERDAM INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

ARTICLE I
THE AGENCY

Section 1. Name.

The name of the Agency shall be “Town of Rotterdam Industrial Development Agency”, and it shall hereinafter be referred to in these by-laws as the Agency.

Section 2. Seal.

The seal of the Agency shall be in the form of a circle and shall bear the name of the Agency and the year of its organization.

Section 3. Offices of the Agency.

The principal office of the Agency shall be located at 1100 Sunrise Boulevard, Rotterdam, County of Schenectady, State of New York. The Agency may have such other offices at such other places as the Agency may from time to time designate by resolution.

ARTICLE II
MEMBERS

Section 1. Members.

The Members of the Agency shall number not less than (3) three nor more than (7) seven. All references in these by-laws to Members shall be references to Members of the Agency. Members shall be appointed by the Town Board of the Town of Rotterdam, New York (the “Town”) and shall serve at the pleasure of the Town Board. A Member shall continue to hold office until

his or her successor is appointed and has qualified. Any one or more of the Members may be an official or employee of the Town. Members shall not receive any compensation for their services but shall be entitled to the necessary expenses, including travel expenses, incurred in the discharge of their duties.

ARTICLE III MEETINGS

Section 1. Annual Meeting.

The annual meeting of the Agency shall be held each year on the second Tuesday of September at 7:00 p.m., at the regular meeting place of the Agency.

Section 2. Regular Meetings.

Regular meetings of the Agency may be held at such times and places as from time to time may be determined by the Agency.

Section 3. Special Meetings.

The Chairperson of the Agency may, when he/she deems it desirable, and shall, on the written request of two Members, call a special meeting of the Agency for the purpose of transacting any business designated in the notice for that meeting. At that special meeting, no business shall be considered other than as designated in the notice for that meeting, but if all the Members are present at a special meeting, with or without notice thereof, any and all business may be transacted at that special meeting.

Section 4. Open Meetings Law.

All meetings of Members shall be conducted in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Open Meetings Law of the State of New York.

Section 5. Notices of Meetings.

Except as provided in this Section 5 with respect to waivers of notice, written notice stating the place, day and hour of the meeting shall be given for all meetings of Members. Such notice shall state the person or persons calling the meeting. Notices of any special meeting shall state the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. Notice of any meeting of Members shall be given, either personally or by first class mail, not less than two (2) days or more than ten (10) days before the date of the meeting, to each Member at his/her address recorded on the records of the Agency, or at such other address which the Member may have furnished in writing to the Secretary of the Agency. Notice shall be deemed to have been given when deposited with postage prepaid in a post office or other official depository under the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States Postal Service. Any meeting of Members may be adjourned from time to time. In that event, it shall not be necessary to provide further notice of the time and place of the adjourned meeting if announcement of the time and place of the adjourned meeting is given at the meeting so adjourned. In the event a new date for an adjourned meeting is fixed, a new notice shall be given, in the same manner as provided in this Section 5. No notice of any meeting need be given to any Member who executes and delivers a waiver of notice before or after the meeting. The attendance of a Member in person or by proxy at a meeting without protesting the lack of notice of that meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice by that Member.

Section 6. Quorum.

Except as provided by law, the Members entitled to cast a majority of the total number of votes entitled to be cast at the meeting shall constitute a quorum at a meeting of Members for the transaction of any business. The Members present may adjourn the meeting despite the

absence of a quorum.

Section 7. Procedure at Meetings.

(a) Meetings of Members shall be presided over by the following officers, in order of seniority - the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson or, if neither the Chairperson nor Vice Chairperson is in office or present at the meeting, by a chairperson to be chosen by a majority of the Members in attendance. The Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Agency shall act as Secretary of every meeting of Members. When neither the Secretary nor an Assistant Secretary is available, the presiding officer may appoint a secretary of the meeting.

(b) The order of business and all other matters of procedure at each meeting of the Authority may be determined by the presiding officer.

(c) Except as otherwise provided by the Members, all resolutions shall be in writing and shall be copied in or attached to the journal of the proceedings of the Agency.

(d) The voting on all questions coming before the Members shall be by roll call, and the yeas and nays shall be entered on the minutes of that meeting, except in the case of appointments when the vote may be by ballot.

ARTICLE IV

OFFICERS

Section 1. Officers.

The officers of the Agency shall be a Chairperson, a Vice Chairperson, a Secretary, and a Treasurer. The Agency may also have as officers an Assistant Secretary and an Assistant Treasurer. Any two or more offices, except the offices of the Chairperson and Secretary, may be held by the same person.

Section 2. Chairperson.

The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings of the Agency. Except as otherwise authorized by resolution of the Agency, the Chairperson shall execute (manually or by facsimile signature) all agreements, contracts, deeds, bonds or other evidences of indebtedness, and other instruments of the Agency on behalf of the Agency. At each meeting the Chairperson shall submit such recommendations and information as he/she may consider proper concerning the business, affairs and polices of the Agency.

Section 3. Vice Chairperson.

The Vice Chairperson shall perform the duties of the Chairperson in the absence or incapacity of the Chairperson, and in case of the resignation or death of the Chairperson, the Vice Chairperson shall perform such duties as are imposed on the Chairperson until such time as the Agency shall appoint a new Chairperson.

Section 4. Secretary.

The Secretary shall keep the records of the Agency, shall act as secretary at meetings of the Agency and record all votes, shall keep a record of the proceedings of the Agency in a journal of proceedings to be kept for such purpose, and shall perform all duties incident to that office. The

Secretary shall keep in safe custody the seal of the Agency and shall have the power to affix such seal to all contracts and other instruments authorized to be executed by the Agency.

Section 5. Assistant Secretary.

The Assistant Secretary shall perform the duties of the Secretary in the absence or incapacity of the Secretary and in case of the resignation or death of the Secretary, the Assistant Secretary shall perform such duties as are imposed on the Secretary until such time as the Agency

shall appoint a new Secretary.

Section 6. Treasurer.

The Treasurer shall have the care and custody of all funds of the Agency and shall deposit those funds in the name of the Agency in such bank or banks as the Agency may select. Except as otherwise authorized by resolution of the Agency, the Treasurer shall sign all instruments of indebtedness, all orders, and all checks for the payment of money, and shall pay out and disburse such monies under the direction of the Agency. Except as otherwise authorized by resolution of the Agency, all such instruments of indebtedness, orders and checks shall be countersigned by the Chairperson. The Treasurer shall keep regular books of account showing receipts and expenditures and shall render to the Agency at each regular meeting an account of all financial transactions and also of the financial condition of the Agency. The Treasurer shall give such bond for the faithful performance of his/her duties as Agency may determine.

Section 7. Assistant Treasurer.

The Assistant Treasurer shall perform the duties of the Treasurer in the absence or incapacity of the Treasurer, and in the case of the resignation or death of the Treasurer, the Assistant Treasurer shall perform such duties as are imposed on the Treasurer until such time as the Agency shall appoint a new Treasurer. The Assistant Treasurer shall give such bond for the faithful performance of his/her duties as the Agency may determine.

Section 8. Additional Duties.

All officers of the Agency shall perform such other duties and functions as may from time to time be authorized by resolution of the Agency or be required by the Agency, by these By-Laws, or by the rules and regulations of the Agency.

Section 9. Appointment of Officers.

All officers of the Agency, except the first Chairperson, shall be appointed at the annual meeting of the Agency from among the Members, and each officer shall hold office for one year or until his/her successor is appointed. The first Chairperson of the Agency shall be designated by the Town Board of the Town.

Section 10. Vacancies.

If any office becomes vacant, the Agency shall appoint a successor from among its Members at the next regular meeting, and that appointment shall be for the unexpired term of that office.

Section 11. Administrative Director.

An Administrative Director may be appointed by the Agency. The Administrative Director shall have general supervision over the administration of the business and affairs of the Agency, subject to the direction of the Agency. The Administrative Director shall be charged with the management of all projects of the Agency.

Section 12. Additional Personnel.

The Agency may from time to time employ such personnel as it deems necessary to exercise its powers, duties and functions as prescribed by the New York State Industrial Development Agency Act, as amended, and all other laws of the State of New York applicable to the Agency. The selection and compensation of all personnel shall be determined by the Agency, subject to the laws of the State of New York.

ARTICLE V

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 1. Books and Records.

The Agency shall keep, at the principal office of the Agency, complete and correct

records and books of account, and shall keep minutes of the proceedings of the Members, or any committee appointed by the Members, as well as a list or record containing the names and addresses of all Members.

Section 2. Indemnification.

To the extent permitted by law, the Agency shall indemnify any person made a party to an action by reason of the fact that he/she, his/her testator or intestate, is or was a Member or an officer of the Agency, against the reasonable expenses, including attorneys' fees, actually and necessarily incurred by him/her in connection with the defense of such action, or in connection with an appeal therein, except in relation to matters as to which such Member or officer is adjudged to have breached his/her fiduciary duty to the Agency. The foregoing rights of indemnification shall not be exclusive of other rights to which such a Member or an officer may be entitled.

Section 3. Amendments.

The by-laws of the Agency may be amended only with the approval of a majority of all of the Members at a regular or special meeting, but no such amendment shall be adopted unless at least seven (7) days written notice of that meeting has been previously given to all Members.